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CENTER FOR THE PREVENTION OF ABUSE ROOF PROJECT
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AMERICAN RECOVERY AND REINVESTMENT ACT OF 2009
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The Center for Prevention of Abuse
Re-Roof Emergency Shelter Building
Price Quote Form
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behall of the
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of a Member of
Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any
Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any

Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a
member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member
of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative
agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure

Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instruction.

(3)  The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the
award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants and
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall

certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this
transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making

or entering into this transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who
fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000

and not more than §100,000 for each such failure.

Contractor Organization

Signature of Certifying Official Date

Note: In these instances, “All, “ in the Final Rule is expected to be clarified to show that it
applies to covered contract transactions over $100,000 (per OMB).
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ESTIMATED PROJECT WORKFORCE BREAKDOWN
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* Lower Income Project Area Residents. Individuals residing within the City of Peoria whose
family mcome does not exceed 80% of the median income in the area.

Company Name




EXHIBIT VII-T

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, Form WH-348

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR Form Approved
WAGE AND HOUR DIVISION Budget Bureau No. 44-R1083

Date
do hereby state:

Jl o}
(Name of Signatory Party) (Title)

{1) That | paid or supervised the payment of the person employed by
on the
(Building or Work)

{Contractor or Subcontactor)

day of

during the payroll period commencing on the
all persons employed on said project have

20__ and ending on the day of 20
been paid the full weekly wages earned, thal no rebates have been or will be made either directly or

indirectly to or on behalf of said
{Contractor or Subcontractor)

person and that no deductions have been made either directly or indirectly from the full wages earned by
any person, other than permissible dedtctions as defined in Regulations, Part 3 (29 CFR Subtitle A),
issued by the Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act, as amended (48 Stat. 848.63 Stat. 180, 72

Stat. 967, 76 Stat. 357; 40 U.S.C. 276c), and described below:

(2) That any payrolls otherwise under this contract required to be submitted for the above period are
correct and complete; that the wage rates for laborers or mechanics contained therein are not iess than
the applicable wage rates contained in any wage determination incorporated into the contract; that the
classifications set forth therein for each faborer or mechanic conform with the work he performed.

(3) That any apprentices employed in the above period are duly registered in a bona fide apprenticeship
program registered with a State apprenticeship agency recognized by the Bureau of Apprenticeship and
Training, United States Department of Labor, or if no such recognized agency exists in a State, are
registered with the Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training, United States Department of Labor.

VIET-1
{Revised 4/01)
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EXHIBIT VII-T, Cont.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR PREPARATION OF
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

This statement of compliance meets needs resulting from the amendment of the Davis-Bacon Act to
include finge benefits provisions. Under this amended law, the contractor is required {o pay fringe
benefits as predetermined by the Department of Labor, in addition to paymen! of the minimum rates. The
contractor's obligation to pay fringe benefits may be met by payment of the fringes o the various plans,
funds, or programs by making these payments to the employees as cash in fieu of fringes.

The contractor should show on the face of his payroll all monies paid to the employees whether as basic
rates or as cash in lieu of fiinges. The contractor shall represent in the statement of commpliance that he is
paying to others fringes required by the contact and not paid as cash in lieu of fiinges. Detailed

instructions follow:
Contractors who pay all required fringe benefits:

A contractor who pays fringe benefits to approved plans, funds, or programs in amounts not less than
predetermined in the applicable wage decision of the Secretary of Labor shall continue to show on the
face of this payroll the basic cash hourly rate and overtime rate paid to his employees, just as he has
always done. Such a contractor shall check paragraph 4(a) of the statement fo indicate that he is also
paying to approved plans, funds, or programs not less than the amount predetermined as fringe benefits

for each craft. Any exception shall be noted in Section 4(c).

Contractors who pay no fringe benefits:

A contractor who pays no fiinge benefits shall pay to the employee and insert in the straight time hourly
rate column of his payrol an amount not less than the predetermined rate for each classification plus the
amount of fringe benefits determined for each classification in the applicable wage decision. Inasmuch as
it is not necessary to pay tine and a half on cash paid in fieu of fringes, the overtime rate shall be not less
than the sum of the basic predetermined rate, plus the half time premium of the basic or regular rate plus
the required cash in lieu of fringes at the straight time rate. To simplify computation of overtime, it is
suggested that the straight time basic rate and cash in lieu of fringes be separately stated in the hourly
rate column, thus $3.25/40. In addition, the contractor shall check paragraph 4(b) of the statement to
indicate that he is paying finge benefits in cash directly to his employees. Any exception shall be noted in

Section 4(c). ’
Use of Section 4(c), Exceptions

Any contractor who is making payment to approved plans, funds, or programs in amounts less than the
wage determination reguires is obligated to pay the deficiency directly to the employees as cash in lieu of
fringes. Any exception to Section 4(a) or 4(b), whichever the contractor may check, shall be entered in
Section 4(c). Enter in the Exception column the crafl and enter in the Expianation column the hourly
amount paid the employees as cash in lieu of fringes, and the hourly amount paid to plans, funds, or

programs as frnnges.

GPO: 1981 0 -345-632
For sale by the Superintendent of Documents
U. S. Gavernment Printing Ofiice
Washington DC 20402

VII-T-3
(Ravised 4/01}
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(Title)
40 hereby state:

(1) That pay ar supervise the payment of the parsons employed by

on the
(Contractor er Subcontractar)

(b) WHERE FRINGE BENEFITS ARE PAID IN CASH

D — Each laborer or mechanic lisied in the above referenced payroil has been paid,
as indicated on the payroll, an armount not less than tha sum of the applicable

basic hourly wage rate plus the amount of the required fringe benefits as listed
In the coniract, except as noted in Section 4(c) below.

(c) EXCEPTIONS

. that during the payrall period commeancing on the
(Building or Work)
&y of

EXCEPTION (CRAFT) EXPLANATION

and enaing the day of
I per

SGns employed on said project have been paid tne full weekly wages earned, that no rebates have

#&n of will D& made either directly or indirectly to or on behalf of said

from the full
(Contractor or Subcontractor)
reeRly wages earneg b

y &ny person and that no deduclions have been made either directly or indirectly
A 1 wag n&d by any parson, other tnan permissible deductions as defined in Regulaticns, Part
28 CFR Scetite A), issusd Dy the Secretary of Labar under the Copaland Act, as amended (48 Stat. 948,
3 S1an. 108, 72 Siat. 867; 78 Sial. 357, 40 U.8.C. 278c), and describad below:

REMARKS:

(2) That any payrolls atherwisa under this coniract required to be submitted for the above period are
correct and compleie; that ne wage rates for laborers or mechanics contained therein are nol fass than the
applicable wage raies
classifications se ¥

contained in any wage determination lncarporated into the contract; that the
3

&t forh therein far each iaberer ar machanic conform with the work he performed.

(3)_ That any apprenuces employed in the above period are duly registered In a bona fide

apprenuceship program regisiered with a Siate apprenticeship agency recognized by the Bureau of

~pprenticeship ana Training, United States Depanment of Labor, of if na such recagnized agency exists In a

Sfaie, are registared with tne Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training, United Siates Depanment of Labor.
{4) That

1a) WHERE FRINGE BENEFITS ARE PAID TO APPROVED PLANS, FUNDS, OR PROGRAMS

in addition to 1ne basic hourly wage rales paid 1o each laborer or mechanic listed in
the abova referenced payroll, payments of fringe benefits as listed in the contract

NAME AND TITLE

SIGNATURE

hNave been of will be made 0 appropriale programs for the benefit of such

THE WILLFUL FALSIFICATION OF ANY OF THE ABOVE STATEMENTS MAY SUBJECT THE CONTRACTOR OR
employess, exceptl as ncled in Sectian 4{c) below.

SUBCONTRACTOR TO CIVIL OR CRIMINAL PROSECUTION, SEE SECTION 1001 OF TITLE 18 AND SECTION 231 OF TITLE
31 OF THE UNITED STATES CODE.

- U.S. 6.P.0.:1687 519.881




DOL WHD: Forms

Act enter as overtime hours worked in excess of 8 hours per day and 40 hours a weelk.

Column 5 - Total: Seli-explanatory

Column 6 - Rate of Pay, including Fringe Benefits: In straight time box, list actual
hourly rate paid the employee for straight time worked plus in cash in lieu of fringes paid
the employee. When recording the straight time hourly rate, any cash paid in lieu of fringes
may be shown separately from the basic rate, thus $3.25/.40. This is of assistance in
correctly computing overtime. See "Fringe Benefits” below. 1n overtime box shown overtime
hourly rate paid, plus any cash in lieu of fringes paid the employee. See "Fringe Benefits"
below. Payment of not less thar time and ohe-half the basic or regular rate paid is required
for overtime under the Contract Work Hours Standard Act of 1962, In addition to paying no
less than the predetermined rate for the classification which the employee works, the
contractor shall pay to approved plans, funds or programs or shall pay as cash in lieu of
fringes amounts predetermined as fringe benefits in the wage decision made part of the

contract. See "FRINGE BENEFITS" below.

FRINGE BENEFITS - Contractors who pay all required fringe benefits: A contractor
who pays fringe benefits to approved plans, funds, or programs in amounts not less than
were determined in the applicable wage decision of the Secretary of labor shall continue to
show on the face of the payroll the basic cash hourly rate and overtime rate paid to his
employees just as he has always done. Such a contractor shall check paragraph 4(a) of the
statement on the reverse of the payroll to indicate that he is also paying to approved plans,
funds or programs not less than the amount predetermined as fringe benefits for each craft.

Any exceptions shall be noted in section 4(c).

Contractors who pay no fringe benefits: A contractor who pays no fringe benefits shall
pay to the employee, and insert in the straight time hourly rate column of the payrolf, an
amount not less than the predetermined rate for each classification plus the amount of
fringe benefits determined for each classification in the applicable wage decision. Inasmuch
as it is not necessary to pay time and a half on cash paid in lieu of fringes, the overtime rate
shall be not less than the sum of the basic predetermined rate, plus the half time premium
on basic or regular rate, plus the required cash in lieu of fringes at the straight time rate. In
addition, the contractor shall check paragraph 4(b) of the statement on the reverse of the
payroll to indicate that he is paying fringe benefits in cash directly to his employees. Any

exceptions shall be noted in Section 4(c).

Use of Section 4{c), Exceptions

Any contractor who is making payment to approved plans, funds, or programs in amounts
less than the wage determination requires is obliged to pay the deficiency directly to the
employees as cash in lieu of fringes. Any exceptions to Section 4(a) or 4(b), whichever the
contractor may check, shall be entered in section 4(c). Enter in the Exception column the
craft, and enter in the Expianation column the hourly amount paid the empioyee as cash in
lieu of fringes and the hourly amount paid to plans, funds, or programs as fringes. The
contractor shall pay, and shall show that he is paying to each such employee for all hours
(unless otherwise provided by applicable determination) worked on Federal or Federally
assisted project an amount not less than the predetermined rate pius cash in lieu of fringes
as shown in Section 4(c). The rate paid and amount of cash paid in lieu of fringe benefits
per hour shouid be entered in column 6 on the payroll. See paragraph on "Contractors who

pay no fringe benefits" for computation of overtime rate,

Column 7 - Gross Amount Earned: Enter gross amount earned on this project. If part of
the employees’ weekly wage was earned on projects other than the project described on
this payroll, enter in column 7 first the amount earned on the Federal or Federally assisted
project and then the gross amount earned during the week on all projects, thus $63.00/

$120.00.
L 30
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Federal Labor Standards Provisions

U.S. Department of Housing
and Urban Deveiopment
Office of Labor Relations

Applicabllity

The Projecl or Program to which the construction work
covered by this contracl pertains is being assislied by lhe
Uniled Stales of America and the following Federal Labor
Standards Provisions are included in this Contracl
pursuanl to lhe provisions applicable to such Federal
assistance.

A. 1. (i) Minimum Wages. All laborers and mechanics
employed or working upon the site of the work, will be paid
unconditionally and not less often than once a week, and
withou! subsequen! deduction or rebale on any accounl
(except such payroll deductions as are permitied by
regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor under the
Copeland Act (20 CFR Part 3), the full amounl of wages
and bona fide fringe benefits (or cash eguivalents thereof)
due at time of paymen! compuled a!l rales nol iess than
those contained in the wage determination of the
Secretary of Labor which is atlached hereto and made a
parl hereof, regardless of any contractual relationship
which may be alleged to exis! between the contraclor and
such laborers and mechanics. Contributions made or
costs reasonably anticipated for bona fide fringe benefils
under Section I(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon Act on behalf of
laborers or mechanics are considered wages paid to such
laborers or mechanics, subjecl to fhe provisions of 29 CFR
5.5(a)(1)(iv); also, regular contributions made or costs
incurred for more than a weekly period (but not less often
than quarterly) under plans, funds, or programs, which
cover the particular weekly period, are deemed to be
conslruclively made or incurred during such weekly period.

Such laborers and mechanics shall be paid the appropriate
wage rate and fringe benefits on the wage delermination
for the classification of work actually performed, without
regard to skill, except as provided in 29 CFR 5.5(a)(4).
Laborers or mechanics performing work in more than one
classificalion may be compensated al the rate specified for
each classification for the time actually worked therein:
Provided, That the empioyer's payroll records accurately
set forth the time spent in each ciassification in which
work is performed. The wage delermination (including any
addilional classification and wage rates conformed under
29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(il) and the Davis-Bacon posier (WH-
1321) shall be posted at all times by the contractor and its
subcontraclors al the site of the work in a8 prominent and
accessible, place where it can be easily seen by the
workers.

(i) (a) Any class of laborers or mechanics which is not
listed in (he wage determination and which is to be
employed under the contracl shall be classified in
conformance with the wage delermination. HUD shall
approve an additional classification and wage rate and
fringe benefits therefor only when the following criteria
have been met:

(1) The work lo be performed by the classlification
requesled is not performed by a classification in the wage

determination; and

{2) The classification is utilized in the area by the
construction indusiry; and

{3) The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide
fringe benefits, bears a reasonable relationship lo lhe
wage rales contained in the wage determinaltion

(b) 1 the coniractor and the laborers and mechanics {o be
employed in the classification (if known), or their
representatives, and HUD or its designee agree on lhe
classification and wage rale (including the amount
designaled for fringe benefils where appropriate), a report
of the action taken shall be senl by HUD or its designee lo
the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division,
Employment Standards Administration, U.S. Department of
Labor, Washington, D.C. 20210. The Administrator, or an
avthorized representalive, will approve, modify, or
disapprove every additional classification action within 30
days of receipl and so advise HUD or its designee or will
notify HUD or ils designee within the 30-day period that
additional time is necessary. (Approved by the Office of
Management and Budgel under OMB control number 1215-

0140.)

{c) In the event the contracior, the laborers or mechanics
to be employed in the classification or their
representatives, and HUD or its designee do nol agree on
the proposed classification and wage rate (including the
amount designaled for fringe benefits, where appropriate),
HUD or ils designee shall refer the queslions, including
the views of all interesied parties and the recommendalion
of HUD or its designee, to the Administrator for
delermination. The Administrator, or an authorized
representative, will issue a determination within 30 days of
receipl and so advise HUD or iis designee or will notify
HUD or its designee within the 30-day period that
additional time is necessary. (Approved by the Office of
Management and Budget under OMB Control Number
1215-0140.)

(d) The wage rate (including fringe benefits where
appropriate) determined pursuanl 1{o subparagraphs
(1)(iiY(b) or (c) of this paragraph, shall be paid to all
workers performing work in the classification under this
contract from the first day on which work is performed in
the classification.

{iii) Whenever the minimum wage rate prescribed in the
contract for a class of laborers or mechanics includes a
fringe benefil which is not expressed as an hourly rate, the
contractor shall either pay the benefit as stated in the
wage determination or shall pay another bona fide fringe
benefit or an hourly cash equivalent thereof.

{iv) M the contractor does not make payments to a trustee
or other third person, the contractor may consider as part

Previous editions are obsolete

form HUD-4010 (06/2008)
ref. Handbook 1344.1

Page 1 of 5

45



(2) Thal each laborer or mechanic inciudiny each heiper,
apprenlice, and irainee) employed on the coniract during
the payroll period has been paid lhe full weekly wages
earned, withou!l rebate, eilher directly or indirectly, and
that no deductions have been made either direcily or
indirectly from the full wayes earned, other than
permissible deductions as se! forthin 20 CFR Part &;

(3) That each laborer or mechanic has been paid nol |less
than the applicable wage rales and Iringe benefits or cash
equivalenis for the classification of work performed, as
specified in  the applicable wage delerminalion
incorporated into the contracl.

(c) The weekly submission of a properly execuled
cerlificalion set forth on the reverse side of Optional Form
WH-347 shall satisty the requirement for submission of the
"Statemen! of Compliance” required by subparagraph
A3 (i)(b}.

(d) The falsification of any of the above cerlifications may
subject the contractor or subcontracior to civil or criminal
prosecution under Section 1001 of Tille 18 and Section
231 of Title 31 of the United Slates Code.

(iii) The contractor or subconliraclor shall make the
records required under subparagraph A.3.(i) available for
inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized
representatives of HUD or its designee or the Department
of Labor, and shall permit such represeniatives to
interview employees during working hours on the job. |If
the contraclor or subcontractor fails o submil the required
records or to make them available, HUD or its designee
may, after written notice to the contraclor, sponsor,
applicant or owner, take such action as may be necessary
to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance,
or guarantee of funds. Furthermore, failure to submi! the
required records upon request or to make such records
available may be grounds for debarment action pursuan! to
29 CFR 5.12.

4. Apprentices and Trainees.

(I} Apprentices. Apprentices will be permilted to work at
less than the predelermined rale for the work they
performed when they are employed pursuan! to and
individually registered in a bona fide apprenticeship
program regislered with the U.S. Deparlmeni of Labor,
Empioyment and Training Administration, Office of
Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor Services, or
with a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the
Office, or if a person is employed in his or her firsl 90
days of probationary empioyment as an apprentice in such
an apprenticeship program, who is not individually
registered in the program, bu! who has been certified by
the Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor
Services or a State Apprenticeship Agency (where
appropriate) lo be eligible for probationary employment as
an apprentice. The allowable ralioc of apprentices 1o
journeymen on the job site in any craft classification shall
nol be greater than the ratio permitied to the contractor as
lo the entire work force under the registered program. Any
worker listed on a payroil al an apprentice wage rate, who

is nol registered or otherwise employed as stated above,
shall be paid nol less than the applicable wage rate on the
wage determination for the classification of work aclually
performed. In addition, any apprenlice performing work on
the job sile in excess of the ratio permilted under the

registered program shall be paid nol less than the

applicable wage rale on the wage delerminalion for the
work actually performed. Where a conlraclor is performing
consiruction on a project in a locality other than thatl in
which ils program is regisiered, the ralios and wage rates
{expressed in percentages of the journeyman’s hourly
rale) specified in 1he coniraclor's or subcontractor’s
registered program shall be observed. Every apprentice
mus! be paid at not less than the rale specified in the
registered program for the apprentice’s level of progress,
expressed as a percentage of lhe journeymen hourly rale
specified in lhe applicabie wage determinalion.
Apprentices shall be paid fringe benefils in accordance
with the provisions of the apprenticeship program. |If the
apprenticeship program does no! specify fringe benefits,
apprenlices mus{ be paid the full amount of fringe benefits
listed on the wage delerminalion for the applicable
classification. If the Adminisirator determines that a
differenl praclice prevails for the applicabie apprentice
classification, fringes shall be paid in accordance with that
determination. (n the event the Office of Apprenticeship
Training, Employer and Labor Services, or a State
Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Office,
withdraws approval of an apprenticeship program, the
contractor will no longer be permitted to |utilize
apprentices al less than the applicable predetermined rate
for the work performed until an acceptable program is

approved.

(ii) Trainees. Except as provided in 29 CFR 5.16,
trainees will nol be permitled to work at less than the
predelermined rale for the work performed unless they are
employed pursuant ',to and individually registered in a
program which has received prior approval, evidenced by
formal certification by the U.S. Department of Labor,
Employmenl and Training Administration. The ratio of
trainees to journeymen on the job sile shall nol be greater
than permitted under the pian approved by the
Empioyment and Training Administration. Every trainee
must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the
approved program for the trainee's level of progress,
expressed as a percentage of the journeyman hourly rate
specified in the applicabie wage determination. Trainees
shall be paid fringe benefils in accordance with the
provisions of the trainee program. |f the trainee program
does no! mention fringe benefils, trainees shall be paid
the full amount of fringe benefils listed on the wage
determination uniess the Administralor of the Wage and
Hour Division determines thal there is an apprenticeship
program associaled with the corresponding journeyman
wage rale on the wage delermination which provides for
less than full fringe benefits for apprentices. Any
employee listed on the payroll at a lrainee rate who is not
regisiered and parlicipaling in a {raining plan approved by

Previous editions are obsolete
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(3) Withhoiding for unpaid wages and liguidated
damages. HUD o/ ils designee shall upon its own action
or upon written reques! of an authorized representative of
the Departmen!l of Labor withhold or cause to be wilhheld,
from any moneys payable on accounl of work performed by
the contractor or subcontractor under any such contracl or
any other Federal conlrac! with the same prime contract,
or any other Federally-assislied coniraclt subject io the
Contract Work Hours and Salety Standards Act which is
held by the same prime contraclor such sums as may be
defermined to be necessary to salisfy any liabilities of
such contraclor or subconlracior for unpaid wages and
liguidated damages as provided in the clause sel forth in
subparagraph (2) ol this paragraph.

(4) Subcontracts. The conlracter or subconlractor shall
inserl in any subcontracts the clauses sel forth in
subparagraph (1) through (4) of this paragraph and also a
clause requiring the subconiraclors 1o include Lhese
clauses in any lower tier subconiracis. The prime
contraclor shall be responsible for compliance by any
subconiractor or lower tier subcontracior wilh the clauses
sel forth in subparagraphs (1) through ({(4) of this
paragraph.

C. Health and Safety. The provisions of this paragraph C are
applicable where the amounl of the prime contracl exceeds $100,000.

(1) No laborer or mechanic shall be required to work in
surroundings or under working conditions which are
unsanitary, hazardous, or dangeious to his health and
safety as determined under construction safety and health
standards promulgated by the Secretary of Labor by
regulation.

(2) The Contractor shall comply with all regulations
issued by the Secretary of Labor pursuant to Title 29 Part
1826 and failure to comply may resull in imposition of
sanctions pursuani to the Contracl Work Hours and Safety
Standards Act, (Public Law 91-54, 83 Stat 96). 40 USC

3701 el seq.

(3) The contractor shall include the provisions of this
paragraph in every subconiract so that such provisions will
be binding on each subcontractor. The contractor shall
take such action with respeci to any subcontractor as the
Secretary of Housing and Urban Development or the
Secretary of Labor shall direct as a means of enforcing
such provisions.

form HUD-4010 (06/2009)
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U.L. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT

CERTIFICATION OF BIDDER REGARDING EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY -

—

INSTRUCTIONS

This certification is required pursuant to Executive Order 11246 (30 F. R. 12319-25). The implementing
rules and regulations provide that any bidder or prospective contractor, or any of their proposed subcon-
tractors, shall state as an initial part of the bid or nezgotiations of the contract whether it has participated in
any previous contract or subcontract subject to the equal opportunity clause; and, if so, whether it has filed
all compliance reports due under applicable instructions.

Where the certification indicates that the bidder has not filed a compliance report due under applicable in-
structions, such bidder shall be required to submit a compliance report within seven calendar days after bid
opening. No contract shall be awarded unless such report is submitted.

CERTIFICATION BY BIDDER

NAME AND ADDRESS OF BIDDER (Incivoe ZIP Code)

Bidder has pariicipated in a previous contrac: or subcontracs subject 1o the Equal Opportunity Clause.

I Yes 7 No

Compliance reports were required to.be filed in connection with such contract or subcontracs.

T ves C No

Bidder has filed all compliance feports due under applicable instructions, including SF-100.
O Yes 2 Ne I None Reguired

Have ycu ever bean or are you eino considered for sanction Gue to violation of Execytive Order 11246, as amended?

0 Yes T No

NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNES (Please type)

L

SIGNATURE

DATE

]

Replaces Form HUD-2238.CD-1, which 15 Obsalete

/
w

HUD-2ED.) 111-78)
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Section 3 Plan Format

(name of contractor) agrees to implement the following
specific affirmative action steps directed at increasing the utilization
of lower income recidents and butinesses within the City of :Pﬁz_r_ﬁ‘z .

A. To ascertain from the HUD Area Office Director the exact boundaries
of the Section 3 covered project area and where advantageous, seek the
assistance of local officials of the Department in preparing and ’
implementing the affirmative actiom plan.

B. To attempt to recruit from within the city the pecessary number of
lower income residents through: Local advertising media, signs placed
at the proposed site for the project, and community organizations and
public or private imstitutions operating within or serving the project
area such as Service Employment and Redevelopment (SER), Opportunities
Industrialization Center (0IC), Urban League, Concentrated Employment
Program, Hometown Plan, or the U.S. Employment Service.

C. To maintain a list of 211 lower income aresa residents who have applied
either on their own or on referral from any source, and to employ

such persons, if otherwise eligible and if a vacancy exists.

*D. To insert this Section 3 plan in all bid documents, and to require
21l bidders to submit a Section 3 affirmative action plan including
utilizztion goals and the specific steps plzmned to accomplish these
goals,

*E. To insure that comtracts which are typically let on 2 megotizted
rather than 2 bid basis in areas other thezn Section 3 -covered project
areas, 2re also let on az negotiated basis, whenever feasible, when
let in a Section 3 covered project arez.

F. To formelly contact unions, subcontractors and trade associatioms to
sacure their cooperdtion for this program.

G. To insure that 211 appropriate project ares business counceras are
notified of pending contractual opportunities.

H. To maintain records, including copies of correspondence, memoranda,
etc., which document that 21l of the above affirmative action steps

have been taken.

I. To appoint or recruit an executive official of the COmMPEny 0T 2gency
as Equal Opprortunity Officer to coordimzte tne implementation of
this Section 3 plan.

*Loans, grants, contracts and subsidies for less than $10,000 will be exempt.



DAVIS BACON ACT ACKNUWLEDGIVICIN |

The undersigned will be performing work for the City of Peoria (City) and/or subrecipients

of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding pursuant to a contract dated
(the Agreement). The work will be paid for with funds

from the City's CDBG program. The undersigned has been informed that any work paid
for entirely or in part with CDBG funds requires compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act, 40

USC Section 276a et seq., (the "Act”).

The undersigned hereby agrees to complvy with the Act and will ensure that all
subcontractors performing work pursuant to the Agreement shall also comply with all

provisions of the Act.

The undersigned hereby acknowledges that the Act, inter alia, requires that he/she and
his/her subcontractors pay workers employed directly upon the site of the work no less
than the locally prevailing wages and fringe benefits paid on projects of a similar character.
Such local prevailing wage rates will be determined by the U.S. Depariment of Labor.

By execution of this acknowledgment, the undersighed acknowledges that he/she and all
subcontractors and suppliers will comply with all requirements of the Act. Additionally, the
undersigned shall hold harmless from and indemnify the City of . Peoria its subrecipients
and their respective officials, officers, employees, agents, and representatives against all
claims, suits, actions, costs, counsel fees, expenses, damages, judgments or decrees, by
reason by the undersign's failure or the failure of any subcontractor, suppliers, or any other
person employed by the undersigned to comply with the requirements of the Act.

Date: , o
(print or type name of business)
By:
Its:
E .
! 3 AA




SECTION 3 CLAUSE

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY OBLIGATIONS

THE WORK TO BE PERFORMED UNDER THIS CONTRACT IS ON A PROJECT ASSISTED UNDER A
PROGRAM PROVIDING DIRECT FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF
HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT AND IS SUBJECT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 3
OF THE HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT ACT OF 1968, AS AMENDED, 12 U.S.C. 1701U,
SECTION 3 REQUIRES THAT TO THE GREATEST EXTENT FEASIBLE, OPPORTUNITIES FOR
TRAINING AND EMPLOYMENT BE GIVEN LOWER INCOME RESIDENTS OF THE PROJECT AREA
AND CONTRACTS FOR WORK IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROJECT BE AWARDED TO BUSINESS
CONCERNS WHICH ARE LOCATED IN, OR OWNED IN SUBSTANTIAL PART BY PERSONS RESIDING

IN THE AREA OF THE PROJECT.

THE PARTIES TO THIS CONTRACT WILL COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SAID SECTION 3 AND
THE REGULATIONS ISSUED PURSUANT THERETO BY THE SECRETARY OF HOUSING AND URBAN
DEVELOPMENT SET FORTH IN 24 CFR PART 135, AND ALL APPLICABLE RULES AND ORDERS OF
THE DEPARTMENT ISSUED THEREUNDER PRIOR TO THE EXECUTION OF THIS CONTRACT. THE
PARTIES TO THIS CONTRACT CERTIFY AND AGREE THAT THEY ARE UNDER NO CONTRACTUAL
OR OTHER DISABILITY WHICH WOULD PREVENT THEM FROM COMPLYING WITH THESE

REQUIREMENTS.

THE CONTRACTOR WILL SEND TO EACH LABOR ORGANIZATION OR REPRESENTATIVE OF
WORKERS WITH WHICH HE HAS A COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT OR OTHER
CONTRACT, OR UNDERSTANDING, IF ANY, A NOTICE ADVISING THE SAID LABOR ORGANIZATION
OR WORKERS’ REPRESENTATIVE OF HIS COMMITMENTS UNDER THIS SECTION 3 CLAUSE AND
SHALL POST COPIES OF THE NOTICE IN CONSPICUOUS PLACES AVATLABLE TO EMPLOYEES AND

APPLICANTS FOR EMPLOYMENT OR TRAINING.

THE CONTRACTOR WILL INCLUDE THIS SECTION 3 CLAUSE IN EVERY SUBCONTRACT FOR WORK
IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROJECT AND WILL, AT THE DIRECTION OF THE APPLICANT FOR OR
RECIPIENT OF FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE, TAKE APPROPRIATE ACTION PURSUANT TO
THE SUBCONTRACT UPON A FINDING THAT THE SUBCONTRACTOR IS IN VIOLATION OF
REGULATIONS ISSUED BY THE SECRETARY OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT, 24 CFR
PART 135. THE CONTRACTOR WILL NOT SUBCONTRACT WITH ANY SUBCONTRACTOR WHERE IT
HAS NOTICE OR KNOWLEDGE THAT THE LATTER HAS BEEN FOUND IN VIOLATION OF
REGULATIONS UNDER 24 CFR PART 135 AND WILL NOT LET ANY SUBCONTRACT UNLESS THE
SUBCONTRACTOR HAS FIRST PROVIDED IT WITH A PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF ABILITY TO
COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THESE REGULATIONS.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 3, THE REGULATIONS SET FORTH IN 24 CFR
PART 135 AND ALL APPLICABLE RULES AND ORDERS OF THE DEPARTMENT ISSUED
THEREUNDER PRIOR TO THE EXECUTION OF THE CONTRACT, SHALL BE A CONDITION OF THE
FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE PROVIDED TO THE PROJECT, BINDING UPON THE APPLICANT
OR RECIPIENT FOR SUCH ASSISTANCE, ITS SUCCESSORS, AND ASSIGNS TO THOSE SANCTIONS
SPECIFIED BY THE GRANT OR LOAN AGREEMENT OR CONTRACT THROUGH WHICH FEDERAL




Equal Opportunity Clause (continued)
Page 2

7. The contractor will include the provisions of Paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract
purchase order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor
1ssued pursuant to Section 204 of Executive Order No. 11246 of September 24, 1965, 5o that
such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. The contractor will take
such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the contracting agency may
direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance:
Provided, however, that in the event the contractor become involved in, or is threatened
with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the contracting
agency, the contractor may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect

the interests of the United States.

47



219

The contractor will include this Section 3 clause
in every subcontract for work in connection with the
project and will, at the direction of the applicant
for or recipient of Federzl financial assistance,
tzke appropriate action pursuant to the subcontract

upon & finding that the subcontractor is in violation

of regulations issued by the Secretary of Housing

and Urban Development, 24 CFR Part 135. The contractor
will not subcontract with anv subcontractor where it
has notice or knowledge thazt the latter has been

found in violation of regulations under 24 CFR Part 135
and will not let any subcontract unless the sub-
contractor has first provided it with a preliminary
Statement of ability to comply with the reguirements

of these regulations.

Compliance with the provisons of Section 3, the
regulations set forth in 24 CFR Part 135, and 211
applicable rules and orders of the Department

issued hersuncer prior to the execution of the con-
tract, shall be 2 condéition oi the federal financizl
assistance provided to +the.project, binding upon
the applicant or recipient for such assistance,
1ts successors and zssigns. Feilure to fulfill the
requirements snall subject the applicant or recipien
its contractors and subcontrec=ors, it successors
and assigns to those sanctions specified by the grant
or loan agresment or coniract throuch which federzl
assistence is provied, and to such sanciions as are
speciiied by 24 CFR Pazrt 135.
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